
   UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
   SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

 Case No. 1:12-cv-21917-UU

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GEORGE G. LEVIN, et al.,

Defendants.
________________________________/

ORDER

THIS CAUSE is before the Court upon Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission’s

Amended Motion for Relief Against Defendant George Levin, D.E. 299.  Also before the Court is the

SEC’s Motion for Relief Against Defendant George Levin Based on his Violation of Section 5 of the

Securities Act of 1933.  D.E. 246.  The Motions are now fully briefed and ripe for disposition.

THE COURT has considered the Motions, the pertinent portions of the record, and is

otherwise fully advised on the premises.    

 BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filed an Amended Complaint on March

8, 2013, against Defendants George Levin and Frank Preve.  D.E. 86.  The Complaint alleges six

counts:  (1) Count I alleges an unlawful sale of unregistered securities in violation of Sections 5(a) and

5(c) of the Securities Act; (2) Count II alleges fraud in violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities

Act; (3) Count III alleges fraud in violation of Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act; (4)
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Count IV is against Levin only and alleges fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and

Rule 10b-5; (5) Count V is against Preve only and alleges an aiding and abetting violation of Section

10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5; and (6) Count VI is in the alternative and alleges an aiding

and abetting violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 against both Preve and

Levin.  In the Amended Complaint, the SEC requests declaratory relief, permanent injunctive relief,

disgorgement, and civil penalties.  The allegations forming the basis of the SEC’s Amended Complaint

arise out of the activities of two entities that invested money in the Rothstein Ponzi scheme, Banyon

1030-32 LLC and Banyon Income Fund, L.P.   The facts underlying this action are set forth in more

detail in the Court’s Omnibus Order, D.E. 220.

On October 9, 2014, in conjunction with its October 6, 2014 order, the Court found that

summary judgement was warranted for the SEC on its claims that Levin violated Sections 5(a) and 5©

of the Securities Act of 1933 by offering to sell the Banyon 1030-32 promissory notes to investors

without having first filed a registration statement.  D.E. 226.  On December 22, 2014, the SEC filed a

motion for relief against Levin based on his violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933.  D.E.

246.  

In its Order on the SEC’s motion for summary judgment, the Court found that there was a

question of fact as to whether Levin acted with the requisite scienter or negligence to be found liable for

violating Sections 17(a)(1), 17(a)(2), or 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, and Section 10(b) and Rule

10b-5 of the Exchange Act.  D.E. 220.  The Court also found that there was no issue of fact that there

were material misrepresentations or materially misleading omissions in both the Banyon 1030-32 and

Banyon Income Fund’s offers to sell securities.  Id.  Accordingly, on March 23, 2015, this action
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proceeded to trial.  On April 1, 2015, the jury found Levin liable for: (1) violating Sections 17(a)(1),

17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933; (2) violating Section 10(b) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder; and (3) aiding and abetting Banyon

1030-32 or Banyon Income Fund’s violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.  D.E. 294.  

On April 17, 2015, the SEC filed this Motion seeking a permanent injunction, disgorgement

with prejudgment interest, and a civil penalty against Levin based on both his violation of Section 5, and

his violation of the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws.  As the same relief is sought in this

Motion as was sought in the December 22 motion, the SEC’s earlier motion will be denied as moot.  In

this Motion, the SEC seeks disgorgement of $57 million with prejudgment interest of $11,293,484.43,

and a $5.7 million civil penalty for Levin’s violation of Section 5, and disgorgement of $49 million with

prejudgment interest of $9,567,306.19, and a $49 million civil penalty for Levin’s violations of Section

17(a), Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

LEGAL STANDARD 

I. Disgorgement

“Disgorgement is an equitable remedy intended to prevent unjust enrichment.”  SEC v.

Monterosso, 557 F App’x 917, 928 (11th Cir. 2014) (citing SEC v. Yun, 327 F.3d 1263, 1269 n.10

(11th Cir. 2003)).  “The district court has broad discretion whether to order disgorgement and to

determine the amount of the award.”  SEC v. Seghers, 298 F. App’x 319, 336 (5th Cir. 2008).  The

purpose of disgorgement is to “deprive the wrongdoer of his ill-gotten gains and deter future violations

of the law.”  Id. 
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“The SEC is entitled to disgorgement upon producing a reasonable approximation of a

defendant’s ill-gotten gains.”  SEC v. Calvo, 378 F.3d 1211, 1217 (11th Cir. 2004).  “The burden

then shifts to the defendant to demonstrate that the SEC’s estimate is not a reasonable approximation.” 

Id.  Because the “power to order disgorgement extends only to the amount with interest by which the

defendant profited from his wrongdoing,” the Court cannot order a defendant to pay more than his ill-

gotten gains because doing so “would constitute a penalty assessment.”  SEC v. ETS Payphones, Inc.,

408 F.3d 727, 735 (11th Cir. 2005).

Exactitude is not required in determining a disgorgement award.  Calvo, 378 F.3d at 1217.  

“[S]o long as the measure of disgorgement is reasonable, any risk of uncertainty should fall on the

wrongdoer whose illegal conduct created that uncertainty.”  Id. (quoting SEC v. Warde, 151 F.3d 42,

50 (2d Cir. 1998)); see SEC v. Huff, 758 F. Supp. 2d 1288, 1359 (S.D. Fla. 2010) (“As one court

has explained, ‘The principal issue . . . in determining the amount of disgorgement to be ordered is the

amount of gain received by each defendant from the fraud. Because the remedy is equitable, and

because precision of calculation will often be impossible, . . . ‘disgorgement need only be a reasonable

approximation of profits causally connected to the violation.’” (citations omitted)).  “[W]here a

defendant’s record-keeping or lack thereof has so obscured matters that calculating the exact amount

of illicit gains cannot be accomplished without incurring inordinate expense, it is well within the district

court’s discretion to rule that the amount of disgorgement will be the more readily measurable proceeds

received from the unlawful transactions.”  Id. at 1217-18.

“Neither a defendant’s cooperation with a subsequent investigation, nor his claims of financial

hardship, are sufficient to preclude disgorgement or reduce the disgorgement amount.”  SEC v.
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Mortenson, No. CV-04-2276 (SJF), 2013 WL 991334, at *5 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 11, 2013); see SEC

v. Universal Express, Inc., 646 F. Supp. 2d 552, 565 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (“In deciding a motion for

disgorgement, a court is not bound to consider a defendant’s claims of financial hardship.”).

II. Prejudgment Interest

“Whether to award prejudgment interest and, if so, at what rate, constitute matters falling within

the Court’s discretion.”  SEC v. Huff, 758 F. Supp. 2d 1288, 1363 (S.D. Fla. 2010), aff’d 455 F.

App’x 882 (11th Cir. 2012).  “Courts impose prejudgment interest to prevent those found liable under

the securities laws from enjoying any benefit accrued from the use of the ill-gotten gain.”  Id.  “Although

whether to award prejudgment interest is a question of fairness . . . proof of a defendant’s scienter

justifies such an award.”  Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted).

III. Civil Penalties

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3), establish three tiers of penalties that the SEC can seek in an enforcement

action.  “Civil penalties are intended to punish the individual wrongdoer and to deter him and others

from future securities violations.”  SEC v. Monterosso, 756 F.3d 1326, 1338 (11th Cir. 2014).

The First Tier of penalties allows the Court to impose a penalty of up to (I) $5,000 for a natural

person for each violation, or (ii) the gross amount of pecuniary gain to such defendant as a result of the

violation.  The Second Tier applies where the violation involved “fraud, deceit, manipulation, or

deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement.”  The Second Tier allows the Court to

impose a penalty of up to (I) $50,000 on a natural person for each violation, or (ii) the gross amount of

pecuniary gain to such defendant as a result of the violation.  The Third Tier applies where the
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requirements of a Second Tier penalty are present and the violation “directly or indirectly resulted in

substantial losses or created a significant risk of substantial losses to other persons.”  The Third Tier

allows the Court to impose a penalty up to (I) $100,000 for a natural person for each violation, or (ii)

the gross amount of pecuniary gain to such defendant as a result of the violation.  The statutory penalty

figures have been adjusted for inflation as follows: (I) $6,500 for a First Tier penalty; (ii) $65,000 for a

Second Tier penalty; and (iii) $130,000 for a Third Tier penalty.  17 C.F.R. § 201.1003 & tbl.III.

The Court should determine the amount of the penalty “in light of the facts and circumstances”

of the securities violation.  15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)(2)(A).  There are a number of factors that the Court

should consider to evaluate the facts and circumstances of the violation.  

These include “(1) the egregiousness of the violations at issue, (2) defendants’ scienter, (3) the repeated

nature of the violations, (4) defendants’ failure to admit to their wrongdoing; (5) whether defendants’

conduct created substantial losses or the risk of substantial losses to other persons; (6) defendants’ lack

of cooperation and honesty with authorities, if any; and (7) whether the penalty that would otherwise be

appropriate should be reduced due to defendants’ demonstrated current and future financial condition.” 

Huff, 758 F. Supp. 2d at 1364.

DISCUSSION

I. Disgorgement

The SEC seeks $57,840,810 in disgorgement based on Levin’s violation of Section 5 of the

Securities Act.  The SEC represents that this amount reflects the gross amount of money investors

invested in the Banyon 1030-32 offering until October 2009.  The SEC also seeks a separate

disgorgement order of $49 million based on Levin’s violations of the anti-fraud provisions of the
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securities laws, which constitute Counts II through IV and Count VI of the Amended Complaint.  The

SEC arrives at this amount based on trial testimony from the SEC’s accountant, Tonya Tullis, and

Preve’s testimony that Levin and his affiliates received $49 million from Banyon 1030-32.  The SEC

does not seek any money raised via the Banyon Income Fund’s offering.

“In the context of an offering of securities in violation of the securities laws, the proper starting

point for a disgorgement award is the total proceeds received from the sale of the securities.”  SEC v.

AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., No. 3:07-CV-1188-D, 2008 WL 1959843, at *2 (N.D. Tex. May 5,

2008) (citing SEC v. Manor Nursing Ctrs., Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1104 (2d Cir. 1972)). 

Accordingly, the Court could reasonably set a disgorgement figure based on the proceeds raised by

Banyon 1030-32 and Banyon Income Fund and then reducing the gross proceeds by the amounts

Levin caused each entity to pay out to investors.  See SEC v. Abatement Corp. Holding Co., No.

14-CV-23336, 2014 WL 5488760, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 29, 2014) (awarding disgorgement of

profits gained as a result of conduct alleged in the complaint less amounts paid to investors); SEC v.

Capital Solutions Monthly Income Fund, LP, 28 F. Supp. 3d 887, 897 (D. Minn. 2014) (SEC

conceded that amount for disgorgement had to be “reduced to reflect money returned to investors in

the form of capital via monthly distributions”).

The SEC does not, however, seek this amount in its request for disgorgement.  Instead, the

SEC asks for disgorgement of the gross proceeds raised from the Banyon 1030-32 offering, and then it

additionally requests disgorgement of the money Levin, his wife, and his affiliated entities received from

these same proceeds.  The SEC’s request is contrary to the purpose underlying disgorgement.
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Disgorgement is a measure of a defendant’s ill-gotten gains, i.e., money that is causally

connected to the securities violations.  See Huff, 758 F. Supp. 2d at 1358-59.  Thus, requiring the

defendant to disgorge more than his ill-gotten profit would be punitive and not remedial.  Id.  But the

SEC is effectively asking the Court to do this in moving the Court to order Levin to disgorge Banyon

1030-32’s proceeds twice.  This is not a reasonable approximation of his ill-gotten gains from the

Banyon 1030-32 offering, even though he violated multiple sections of the Securities Act and Exchange

Act.

Based on the evidence at trial and the evidence before the Court on this Motion, a

disgorgement award of $40.9 million is a reasonable approximation of Levin’s ill-gotten gains from the

Banyon 1030-32 offering.  This amount reflects the amounts actually received by Levin, his wife, and

Levin’s entities from Banyon 1030-32 between December 1, 2007, and October 1, 2009.  The SEC’s

accountant, Tonya Tullis, testified that she examined the Banyon 1030-32 Quickbooks to arrive at this

figure, and the chart showing her analysis was submitted into evidence.   D.E. 300-16; D.E. 300-5 at1

475:1-19; 484:25-485:4.   As shown at trial, and reflected by the jury’s verdict, the money raised

The SEC asks that the Court order disgorgement of $49 million on Levin’s securities fraud1

violations based on Preve’s testimony that Levin actually received $50 million from Banyon 1030-32,
contrary to Banyon 1030-32’s Quickbooks.  D.E. 300-17 at 15-17, 744:23-746:7.  The SEC also
submits an email from Preve that purportedly supports his analysis.  D.E. 300-18.  The email is not very
helpful as Preve describes his summary chart as “answering 1A, 2A, 3A and 4A of the SEC request.” 
Id.  The Court, however, does not know what 1A, 2A, 3A and 4A requested, and the attached chart is
simply titled “Banyon 1030-32, LLC cash receipts and cash outflows 2007-2010” without any
reference to Levin.  Id.  Preve’s testimony alone is insufficient to order a disgorgement award of $50
million.  He testified that Levin had received “around 50 million dollars” and that he did not “have the
exact numbers,” but there were personal investments on the books of Banyon 1030-32.  D.E. 300-17
at 16.  Preve’s unsupported and vague testimony does not constitute a reasonable approximation of
Levin’s ill-gotten gains.
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during this time was raised as a result of Levin’s violation of the anti-fraud provisions of the securities

laws.  Further, as the Court found on summary judgment, the investments in Banyon 1030-32 during

this time were also raised in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act.

Preve testified at trial that he and Levin began soliciting investors for Banyon 1030-32 in

December 2007.  D.E. 300-2 at 586:10-15.  He also testified that before December 2007, Levin

helped him compile a PowerPoint presentation to give to investors.  Id. at 589:6-590:13.  The parties

stipulated at trial that these Powerpoint presentations contained misrepresentations, including that

settlement funds were in the Rothstein trust account before any disbursements were made by the

Banyon entities, and that Banyon 1030-32 would have all executed documents necessary to access

settlement funds before any disbursements were made.  D.E. 289-1 ¶¶ 1-2.  

Both Preve and Levin testified that Banyon 1030-32 did not comply with the risk mitigation

procedures it outlined in the PowerPoint presentation during the entirety of its operation, many times not

receiving settlement documents until after Banyon had disbursed funds to Rothstein to purchase

settlements.  D.E. 300-3 at 654:17-656:9; 659:10-661:8; 669:10-670:10; 673:2-15; D.E. 300-28 at

926:21-936:1.  The parties also agreed that from April through October 2009, Banyon 1030-32 did

not tell its investors that “Rothstein was under investigation by the Florida Bar, that Rothstein had frozen

the trust accounts, and that Rothstein had slowed payments on Banyon 1030-32 settlements.”  D.E.

289-1 ¶ 4.  Multiple investors testified that they would not have invested in Banyon 1030-32 if they had

known that the representations in the PowerPoint presentation were false.  D.E. 300-2 at 517:1-24;

D.E. 300-4 at 319:5-19; D.E. 300-5 at 397:20-404:6.  
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Based on this evidence and the jury’s verdict finding Levin liable for securities fraud, any money

raised by Banyon 1030-32 between December 2007 and October 2009 was interrelated to the

misrepresentations and omissions that constituted Levin’s fraudulent scheme.  As such, this money

would constitute ill-gotten gains.  See Capital Solutions Monthly Income Fund, LP, 28 F. Supp. 3d

at 898 (“Because the Fund could not have continued without such investors, all money received was so

interrelated to the misrepresentations and omissions that they all constitute ill-gotten gains.”); SEC v.

Hasho, 784 F. Supp. 1059, 1111-12 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) (“When a defendant engages in a pervasive

pattern of fraudulent conduct as opposed to isolated instances, it is unnecessary to prove a direct nexus

between each instance of unlawful conduct and the disgorgement amount due.”).  Therefore, any money

that Levin received personally or through his entities from the proceeds raised by Banyon 1030-32 is

his share of ill-gotten profit.  2

The Court finds that the $40.9 million in disgorgement should not be offset by any of the

following: (I) the $15.6 million Banyon 1030-32 paid to its investors during its operation; (ii) the $30.4

million distributed by the Banyon Trustee to Banyon 1030-32 investors pursuant to the TD Bank

settlement; and (iii) the $1.75 million Levin has contributed to his personal bankruptcy estate.  

The $15.6 million paid to investors is irrelevant because the Court is setting disgorgement based

on sums that Levin, his wife, and his related entities actually retained, instead of all investor proceeds

raised during the Banyon 1030-32 offering.  The $15.6 million would only offset the disgorgement

award if the Court was setting disgorgement based on the $57 million raised in the total Banyon 1030-

As the SEC does not seek disgorgement of any proceeds raised through Banyon Income2

Fund, the Court’s disgorgement award is based solely on Levin’s ill-gotten gains from the Banyon
1030-32 offering.
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32 offering.  See SEC v. Chemical Trust, No. 00-8015-CIV, 2000 WL 33231600, at *12 (S.D. Fla.

Dec. 19, 2000) (“[I]t would be inequitable to require ACC to disgorge funds it had transferred back to

the defendants and not otherwise converted to its own use, or not otherwise placed in the hands of third

parties beyond the reach of the investors.”); AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., 2008 WL 1959843, at *4

(finding when part of money generated from investors was returned to investors, the portion returned

“cannot be characterized as the defendant’s gain or profit”).  There is no evidence, however, that the

$15.6 million paid to investors came out of the $40.9 million paid to Levin and his entities.

The $30.4 million distributed by the Banyon Trustee to Banyon 1030-32 investors cannot offset

any disgorgement award because the $30.4 million was not a return of investor proceeds raised during

the Banyon 1030-32 offering.  As characterized by Robert Furr, the Chapter 7 trustee of Banyon

1030-32, LLC, this is a distribution of money Banyon received from TD Bank.  D.E. 304-3 ¶ 6. 

Whether another entity has contributed money to make investors whole has no bearing on Levin

disgorging the money he gained as a result of his securities violations.  Here, the $41 million Levin

received from the Banyon 1030-32 offering has been put “beyond the reach of the investors” and

should therefore be disgorged.  Chemical Trust, 2000 WL 33231600, at *12.

As for the $1.75 million Levin has contributed to his personal bankruptcy estate, there is no

evidence that this has reached the hands of Banyon 1030-32 investors.  At trial, one of the Banyon

1030-32 investors testified that he had not received any money through Levin’s bankruptcy, and Levin

himself testified that he had not paid any money to the Banyon investors.  D.E. 300-5 at 396:12-20;

D.E. 292 at 1235:6-16.  If any investor does ultimately recover money from the $1.75 million Levin has

contributed to his bankruptcy estate, then Levin would be entitled to a reduction in the disgorgement
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award because this would constitute a partial return of Levin’s ill-gotten gains.  Levin can move to

modify the Court’s disgorgement award when such an event occurs.

In determining the disgorgement award, the Court finds that the evidentiary hearing Levin

requests is not necessary under SEC v. Smyth, 420 F.3d 1225 (11th Cir. 2005).  The Eleventh Circuit

in Smyth relied on Rule 55(b)(1) in holding that judgment can be entered without a hearing when

“plaintiff’s claim is for a sum certain or a sum that can be made certain by computation.”  Id. at 1231. 

The Eleventh Circuit also noted that an evidentiary hearing is not necessary “where all essential

evidence was already of record.”  Id. at 1233.  Here, the amount of disgorgement can be made certain

by computation based on Banyon 1030-32’s Quickbooks.  Also, unlike in Smyth, where the defendant

had stipulated to liability without a trial but reserved his rights to contest the amount of disgorgement,

there was a six-day trial in this action where Levin presented evidence and testimony.  As such, all

essential evidence is already of record, and Levin does not explain what other evidence he intends to

present.  Accordingly, the Court finds that an evidentiary hearing to determine a disgorgement amount is

unnecessary and does not compromise Levin’s right to due process.

II. Prejudgment Interest

As stated above, proof of a defendant’s scienter justifies awarding prejudgment interest. Huff,

758 F. Supp. 2d at 1363.  Because the jury found that Levin acted with the requisite scienter to be

found liable for securities fraud, the Court finds that it is appropriate to award prejudgment interest. 

The rate normally used to determine prejudgment interest is the IRS underpayment rate, which “reflects

what it would have cost to borrow the money from the government and therefore reasonably

approximates one of the benefits the defendant derived from its fraud.”  SEC v. First Jersey
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Securities, Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1476 (2d Cir. 1996).  The SEC’s current prejudgment reports,

however, are based on the incorrect disgorgement award.  The SEC will therefore be ordered to

resubmit its prejudgment interest report based on a disgorgement figure of $40.9 million.

III. Civil Penalties

A. Section 5 Violations

The SEC seeks a Second Tier penalty of $5.7 million for Levin’s violation of Section 5 of the

Securities Act.  The SEC contends that “Levin carried out the unregistered Banyon offering with

reckless disregard of the regulatory requirements Section 5 mandates, and thus acted with a high

degree of scienter.”  D.E. 299 at 11.  Levin opposes this penalty and contends that “the record shows

that Banyon 1030 complied with the Rule 506 exemption for securities registration with the singular

exception of its acceptance of a small loan from Michael Toy.”  D.E. 304 at 18.

The Court finds that a Second Tier penalty is not warranted for Levin’s Section 5 violations. 

The registration requirements of the Securities Act are strict liability provisions.  See Calvo, 378 F.3d

at 1219.  The Court based its determination that Levin violated Section 5 on the fact that he could not

claim that the notes were exempt from registration under Rule 506, 17 C.F.R. § 230.506.  D.E. 220 at

22.  This is because at least one purchaser of the Banyon 1030-32 notes, Michael Toy, was not an

accredited investor nor did he have such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters

that he was capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the prospective investment, nor could Levin

reasonably believe that he came within this description.  Id.; D.E. 226.  Nonetheless, the Court noted

that there was evidence that Levin and Preve could possibly claim exemption under Rule 508, if this

was not an SEC enforcement action, because they did not advertise the Banyon notes, all initial
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investors were reached via word of mouth and personal connections, they obtained a legal opinion in

mid-2008 regarding whether a registration statement was required for the notes, and they included an

Investor Certification as part of the Banyon 1030-32 offering package.  D.E. 220 at 28.  Based on this

evidence, it would be inappropriate for the Court to impose a Second Tier penalty, which requires

showing a violation involved “fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a

regulatory requirement.”  

The Court will therefore impose a First Tier civil penalty of $6,500 per violation for Levin’s

Section 5 violations of the Securities Act.  Courts have calculated the number of violations by the

number of statutory provisions violated.  See SEC v. Miller, 744 F. Supp. 2d 1325, 1345 (N.D. Ga.

2010) (multiplying civil penalty amount by the number of statutes violated).  In Count I of its Amended

Complaint, the SEC alleged that Levin violated two different provisions of the Securities Act:  § 5(a)

and § 5(c).  D.E. 86.  The Court entered judgment for the SEC on Count I of the Complaint, therefore

finding that Levin violated both sections.  Thus, the Court will multiply the $6,500 civil penalty by 2,

which is the number of statutory provisions Levin violated by selling Banyon 1030-32 notes without first

filing a registration statement.  As such, Levin will be ordered to pay a civil penalty of $13,000 for his

violations of Section 5 of the Securities Act.

B. Securities Fraud Violations

The SEC moves the Court to impose a Third Tier penalty against Levin equal to his pecuniary

gain of $49 million based on his violations of the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws.  In

response, Levin contends that the Court should enter, at most, a penalty of $470,000 for both the

Section 5 violations and securities fraud violations.  In support of his position, Levin contends that:  (I)
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he was only marginally involved in preparing the investor materials for Banyon 1030-32 and Banyon

Income Fund; (ii) his state of mind was influenced by misrepresentations made to him by Rothstein and

his accomplices; (iii) there were no stolen or misappropriated investor funds; (iv) any violations were

isolated; (iv) he has cooperated with the Banyon Trustee, the SEC, and criminal  prosecutors; and (v)

he has a net worth of $470,000.

 The jury, in finding Levin liable for securities fraud, found that he committed fraud either

knowingly or with severe recklessness based on the material misrepresentations and omissions made to

investors in the Banyon 1030-32 and Banyon Income Fund offerings.  D.E. 295.  These violations

induced investors into investing and resulted in their substantial losses, of at least $100 million.  This

warrants the imposition of Third Tier civil penalties.  See Capital Solutions Monthly Income Fund,

LP, 28 F. Supp. 3d at 902.  

The facts and circumstances of Levin’s violations also warrant imposing Third Tier penalties. 

The misrepresentations and omissions forming the basis for Levin’s securities fraud were not isolated

incidents:  they occurred regularly throughout the almost two years that Levin and Preve sought out

investors; they were made during two separate offerings, D.E. 289; there were several different

misrepresentations and omissions regarding the riskiness of the Banyon investments, id.; and they

resulted in approximately 173 investors investing over $157 million through Banyon 1030-32 and

Banyon Income Fund, D.E. 300-5 at 470:1-473:23.  Levin recognized that information communicated

to investors was not accurate, and did nothing to rectify that because, as he repeatedly testified, he only

cared that “the money was in the bank” to cover investor funds.  D.E. 286 at 890:11-19, 940:14-

943:22, 947:6-953:14, 955:4-7; D.E. 300-38 at 1018:4-7, 1024:4-1025:8, 1035:25-1036:6,
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1088:15-23.  To this day, Levin has failed to admit his wrongdoing, instead continuing to blame

Rothstein and Preve, and testifying that it was not his responsibility to ensure that Banyon 1030-32 and

Banyon Income Fund were complying with the representations they made to investors.  D.E. 304 at 19;

D.E. 286 at 952:23-954:3. 

 That being said, the Court finds that the SEC’s requested civil penalty of $49 million is not

warranted.  Levin has lost most of his personal wealth and is currently in bankruptcy.  See In re

George Levin, 10-33696-RBR.  At a deposition in May, 2014, Levin testified about the assets he

hoped to leave bankruptcy with if the bankruptcy court approves his plan.  D.E. 300-7 at 105:22-

106:9.  These assets are worth almost $2 million.  D.E. 300-21.  Levin also has some cash entering his

bank accounts, between $0 and $31,500 per month.  D.E. 311-6.  Levin continues to pursue business

ventures, flying to Panama on the eve of trial for business purposes.  D.E. 274.  Even taking all these

assets into account, and discounting Levin’s self-serving and unsupported declaration that he is only

worth $497,000, it is still unlikely that Levin will be able to pay the Court’s disgorgement award plus a

civil penalty of an equal amount.  This mitigates against imposing the civil penalty the SEC requests. 

Capital Solutions Monthly Income Fund, LP, 28 F. Supp. 3d at 902 (“The Court has ordered

significant disgorgement, and Duckson’s and TFFM’s financial capacity are diminished.  As a result, the

Court concludes that civil penalties in the amount requested should not be ordered.”).

Also, although Levin has not personally paid any money to injured investors, he has taken some

steps to make Banyon investors whole.  He testified at trial that he sat for a number of depositions for

various litigations surrounding Rothstein’s Ponzi scheme, and that he waived his own claims against TD

Bank so that investors could recover from TD Bank.  D.E. 292 at 1233:14-1234:21.  Defendants in
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other actions exhibiting far more egregious conduct, including fleeing the country and violating freeze

orders by selling assets, have only been subjected to civil penalties in the amount of $20 million and

$1.1 million, respectively.  See SEC v. Razmilovic, 738 F.3d 14, 38-39 (2d Cir. 2013) (affirming civil

penalty equal to one-half the amount of defendant’s “fraud-enabled pecuniary gains” where he was a

“direct participant in a pervasive fraud scheme, spanning over three (3) years . . . [y]et instead of

responding to the charges against him, Razmilovic fled the country, continues to refuse to admit any

wrongdoing, and has never expressed any remorse for his conduct”); AmeriFirst Funding, Inc., 2008

WL 1959843, at *8-9 (awarding civil penalty of $1.178 million where defendant sold assets in violation

of court order and violated receivership orders).

In light of these facts and circumstances, an appropriate civil penalty is a Third Tier penalty of

$130,000 per violation.  As explained above, “per violation” can be calculated by the number of

statutory provisions violated.  See Miller, 744 F. Supp. 2d at 1345.  The jury found that Levin

committed five separate violations of the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws.  D.E. 294. 

Therefore, Levin will be ordered to pay $650,000 in civil penalties for his violations of the fraud

provisions of the Securities Act and Exchange Act.

III. Permanent Injunction

Levin consents to the SEC’s request for a permanent injunction and agrees to the language

used in its proposed order.  The Court will therefore also enter a permanent injunction against Levin

enjoining him from violating securities laws in the future.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is 
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ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff’s Motion for Relief Against Defendant George

Levin Based on His Violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, D.E. 246, is DENIED AS

MOOT.  It is further

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff’s Amended Motion for Relief Against Defendant

George Levin, D.E. 299, is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.  It is GRANTED as

follows: Defendant George Levin is ORDERED to disgorge $40.1 million plus prejudgment interest of

an amount to be determined upon submission of an amended prejudgment interest report.  Defendant

Levin is also ORDERED to pay civil penalties in the amount of $13,000 for his violations of Section 5

of the Securities Act.  Further, Defendant Levin is ORDERED to pay $650,000 for his violations of the

anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act and Exchange Act. It is further

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff SHALL submit an amended prejudgment interest

report no later than 3 p.m. on Friday, July 31, 2015.  The Plaintiff SHALL also submit a revised

proposed final judgment against George Levin reflecting the Court’s rulings in this Order.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this     21st     day of July, 2015.

___________________________________
URSULA UNGARO
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

copies provided: counsel of record
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